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Request for Proposals (“RFP”): Date: October 24, 2025 

Battery Park City Pile/Platform 
Assessment and Remediation 
Design Services   

RE:  Addendum # 2 

# of Pages: 34 

A) BPCA’s RESPONSE TO SUBSTANITIVE QUESTIONS:

The following responses are provided to substantive questions received by Battery Park City 
Authority (“BPCA”) by October 15, 2025, in connection with this RFP. The Responses are 
provided in red, italicized print immediately following the Questions. Please note that all 
capitalized terms shall have the same definitions as provided in the RFP. 

1. Is it possible to get a copy of the existing NYSDEC permit and an identification of
previously negotiated fill volumes between the NYSDEC and BPCA?
The selected proposer would need to secure permits for the contemplated pile
remediation work.  Attached are the permits received for the prior pile remediation work,
which contain the fill volumes.

2. Please confirm the scope includes inspection of all previous phases?
Confirmed.

3. Please confirm the required amount of concrete cores and if there is a requirement for
which phase those are extracted from.
BPCA would look to the proposers to identify the approximate number of concrete cores
required.

4. Please confirm that underdeck/topside/fascia elements are included in the inspection
scope.
Confirmed, these should be included in the inspection scope.

5. Please confirm how many months should be included for construction administration in
Exhibit D-2.

Response forthcoming in future addendum.

6. It is understood that the construction may be conducted in phases, but please confirm that
only one set of Construction Documents (for the entire site) is required.  Similarly, please
confirm that the intent is to obtain permits using one set of drawings for the entire site.
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Confirmed.  There would be only one set of Construction Documents prepared and   
one set of drawings would be used to obtain permits.  

 
7. Please confirm that this rehabilitation work is intended to repair the existing elements, not 

to upgrade their capacity to support additional loading (i.e. from resiliency projects). 
That is correct.  Any future upgrades would be undertaken in a future RFP. 
 

8. Depending on availability of MWBEs and SDVOBs, will BPCA allow for alteration of 
the 15%/15%/6% goals to achieving the overall 36% disadvantaged businesses goal?  If 
so, is any additional documentation required for this change? 
No, the contract goals cannot be altered. You may work with the Diversity Department if 
you encounter issues subcontracting with MWBEs and SDVOBs. The Diversity Team will 
advise on the next steps or if a waiver is needed for the goals that cannot be met. The 
waiver process requires Good Faith Effort (GFEs) documentation supporting the waiver. 

 
9. Please confirm that Inspection fee should be included in Design Development / 

Construction Documents in Exhibit D-2. 
 Yes, the inspection fee should be included.  
 

10. Please confirm where the fee for Task C – Schedule should be included in Exhibit D-2. 
Response forthcoming in future addendum. 
 

11. For the Pile Testing task listed in Exhibit D-2, please confirm this is only the cost 
associated with extracting the concrete cores & associated lab testing? 
Confirmed  
 

12. On page A-2, please confirm that “devise an approach for implementing the Project’s 
design” is referring to implementing the pile remediation project and not the South or 
North/West Resiliency program. 
Confirmed. 

 
13. On page A-2, v): what is required for the “verification survey of the Project Area?” 

As noted in the RFP, such survey must include:  
a) Performance of a visual inspection, including necessary underwater diving 
services, of all piles included in the Project's designated locations as shown in 
Exhibit G. 
 b) Measurement of the length of the inboard and outboard face of each pile, and 
use of such information when helping to prepare the Construction RFP for this 
Project, as defined in item 5 (Bid Support) below; and,  
c) Performance of a penetration probe at each pile to ascertain bottom 
composition. 

 
14. Is it possible to provide the most recent DEC and USACE permits? 

 See response to Question 1. 
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15. Please confirm BPCA will have a resident inspection team and CA dives included in the 

proposal are only to intermittently monitor the construction. 
Correct, when work is undertaken, BPCA will engage a CM who will conduct regular 
inspections. 

 
Please ensure that all submissions include acknowledgment of this addendum.  
 
The deadline for proposal submissions remains unchanged. 
 
 
 
 
By signing the line below, I am acknowledging that all pages of this Addendum #2 have been 
received, reviewed and understood, and will be incorporated into the Proposal submitted. This 
document must be attached to the Proposal for consideration. 
  
 
________________________             ________________________________________ 
Print Name    Signature      Date        
 
Number of pages received: ______________<fill in> 
 
Distributed to: All prospective Proposers 
  
 



DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 
U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS, NEW YORK DISTRICT 

JACOB K. JAVITS FEDERAL BUILDING 
26 FEDERAL PLAZA 

NEW YORK NEW YORK 10278-0090 

REGULATORY BRANCH JUL 1 8 2018 

SUBJECT: Permit Application File Number NAN-2018-00504-ESW by the Battery Park 
City Authority for Pile Maintenance in Hudson River at the Battery Park City, Borough of 
Manhattan, New York County, City of New York, New York 

1. PERMITTEE:
Hugh L. Carey Battery Park City Authority
200 Liberty Street, 24th Floor
New York, New York 10281 
(212) 417-2000

2. On April 12, 2018, the New York District of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers received
a request for Department of the Army authorization from the Battery Park City Authority
for the repair of approximately 7,400 linear feet of the esplanade which averages between
20-25 feet wide (approximately 170,200 square feet/3.9-acre) by encasing the severely
deteriorated existing 20-inch square pre-cast concrete piles in 38-inch diameter concrete
jackets with reinforcing bar and wire mesh. Minimally deteriorated piles will be encased
in a 22-inch diameter jacket. The total amount of concrete epoxy grout in all of the pile
jackets is approximately 607 cubic yards of discharge in an estimated footprint of 1,535
square feet. The substrate around the base of the pile would be removed by hand in order
for the encasement to be buried below the mud line, and replaced to grade once the work
on each pile is completed. The temporary sidecast would consist of approximately 2,264
square feet of fill. The regulated activities would be conducted in four phases over a period
of four years and is located in the Hudson River at the Battery Park City, Borough of
Manhattan, New York County, City of New York, New York.

3. The specific applicant-provided details are as shown on the attached permit drawings
titled "Applicant: Battery Park City Authority", dated April 3, 2018, prepared by DKR
Shores, Inc. 

4. This determination covers only the work described in the submitted material. Any major
changes in the project may require additional authorizations from the New York District
of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.

5. Based on the information submitted to this office and accomplishment of any required
notification in accordance with the applicable federal requirements, our review of the
subject work indicates that an individual Department of the Army permit is not required. It 
appears that the activities within the jurisdiction of this office could be accomplished under
Department of the Army Nationwide General Permit Number 3 MAINTENANCE, in 
accordance with Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899 (33 U.S.C. 403) and 
Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1344, as amended). The nationwide
permits are prescribed as a Reissuance of Nationwide Permits in the Federal Register
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dated January 6, 2017 (82 FR 1860). The subject work may be performed without further 
authorization from this office provided it complies with Sections A through D, Number 3 
MAINTENANCE; New York District regional conditions; the following work-specific 
Special Conditions listed below; and any applicable regional conditions added by the 
State of New York. 

6. Other than the work-specific Special Conditions listed below, the 2017 nationwide
general permits in the State of New York, including their final regional conditions, water
quality certifications, and coastal zone concurrence statements are available at: 

www.nan.usace.army.mil/Portals/37/docs/regulatory/pub1icnotices/Regional%20Gen%2 
0Permit/PN-RB%20NAN%20FinalRegionalConditionsWQC%20CZMforNYdated%2021-
MAR-2017.pdf 

If you require a specific paper copy, please contact our Regulator-of-the-Day at 917-790-
8511 to request one be mailed to you. Please be sure to have the above eighteen-
character file number readily available when you call. 

7. Work-specific Special Conditions:

(A) The permittee understands and agrees that, if future operations by the United States
require the removal, relocation, or other alteration, of the structure or work herein
authorized, or if, in the opinion of the Secretary of the Army or his authorized
representative, said structure or work shall cause unreasonable obstruction to the free
navigation of the navigable waters, the permittee will be required, upon due notice from
the Corps of Engineers, to remove, relocate, or alter the structural work or obstructions
caused thereby, without expense to the United States. No claim shall be made against
the United States on account of any such removal or alteration.

(8) The permittee shall sign and submit the attached compliance certification form to this
office within 30 days of COMPLETION of the regulated activity authorized by this permit
and any mitigation work required by Special Condition.

(C) The permittee, and their agents, shall utilize best management practices to minimize
turbidity during all in-water work activities as well as prevent construction materials,
including debris from entering the waterway to become drift or pollution hazards.

(D) The permittee shall not conduct in-water work in shortnose sturgeon overwintering
grounds from November 1-March 15 of any calendar year.
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commencement of the authorized work you may request an approved JD, which may be 
appealed, by contacting the New York District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for further 
instruction. To assist you in this decision and address any questions you may have on 
the differences between preliminary and approved jurisdictional determinations, please 
review U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Regulatory Guidance Letter No. 16-01, which can 
be found at: 

http://www.usace.army.mil/Portals/2/docs/civilworks/RGLS/rgl 6-01 app1-2.pdf 

9. This verification is valid until March 18, 2022, unless the nationwide permit is modified,
reissued, or revoked. This verification will remain valid until March 18, 2022, if the activity
complies with the terms of any subsequent modifications of the nationwide permit
authorization. If the nationwide permits are suspended, revoked, or modified in such a
way that the activity would no longer comply with the terms and conditions of a nationwide
permit, and the proposed activity has commenced, or is under contract to commence, the
permittee shall have twelve (12) months from the date of such action to complete the
activity.

10. In order for us to better serve you and others, please complete our Customer Service
Survey located at: 

http://www.nan.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory/CustomerSurvey.aspx 

11. Any inquiries should be directed to our Regulator-of-the-Day at 917-790-8511. Please
be sure to have the above eighteen-character file number readily available when you call.

Enclosures (3) 
1. Dated Permit Drawings
2. Completion Form
3. Preliminary JD 

Copies furnished: 
McLaren Engineering Group 
Attn: Craig P. Plate 
Attn: Kaitlyn McGrath 
100 Snake Hill Road 
West Nyack, New York 10994 

 £/!-
Ronald R. Pinz  
Chief, Eastern Section 



NATIONWIDE GENERAL PERMIT 
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION 

AND REPORT FORM 
Permit File Number: NAN-2018-00504-ESW 
Permittee: Battery Park City Authority 
Location: 40.71344167, -74.0162084 Battery Park City, Borough of Manhattan, New 
York County, City of New York, New York 

Date Permit Letter Issued: JUL 1 8 2018 __ _ _ _ : , _ ; : ; _ ; ; , ; ; ; _  ___ _ 
Within 30 days of the completion of the activity authorized by this nationwide 
general permit and any mitigation required in the verification letter, please sign this 
certification and return it to the address at the bottom of this form. 

Please note that your permitted activity is subject to a compliance inspection by a 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers representative. If you fail to comply with the permit's 
terms and conditions you are subject to permit suspension, modification or 
revocation. 

I hereby certify that the work authorized by the above referenced nationwide general 
permit has been completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of said 
permit, and required mitigation was completed in accordance with the permit 
conditions. 

Signature of Permittee Date 

FOLD THIS FORM INTO THIRDS, WITH THE BOTTOM THIRD FACING OUTWARD. 
TAPE IT TOGETHER AND MAIL TO THE ADDRESS BELOW OR FAX (212) 264-4260. 

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 
NEW YORK DISTRICT CORPS OF ENGINEERS 
JACOB K. JAVITS FEDERAL BUILDING 
ATTN: CENAN-OP-RE 
NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10278-0090 

PLACE 
STAMP 
HERE 



U_SAC.E FILE: NAN-2018-00504-ESW 

PURPOSE: ESPLANADE REPAIRS 

DATUM: MHD 
'.DJACENT OWNERS: 
SEE ATTACHED LIST. 

LOCATION MAP 
N.T.S. 

BATTERY PARK CITY ESPLANADE 
PILE REMEDIATION PROGRAM 

APPLICANT: HUGH L CAREY 
BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY 
200 LIBERTY ST., 24TH FLOOR 
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10281 

AGENT: M,G, McLAREN, P.C, 
100 SNAKE HILL ROAD 
WEST NYACK, N.Y. 10994 

LOCATION MAP 

IN: MANHATTAN, NY 
AT: BATTERY PARK CITY 
COUNTY OF: NEW YORK 
STATE: NY 

SHT L OF 1,  03/30/2018

JUL 1 8 2018 
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2020 PHASE 8 
399 PILES 

PURPOSE: ESPLANADE REPAIRS 

DATUM: MHD 
( DJACENT OWNERS: 

SEE ATTACHED LIST. 

HUDSON RIVER 

EBB 

EXISTING BATTERY PARK 
CITY FERRY TERMINAL 

2018 PHASE 6 
276 PILES 

OVERALL SITE PLAN 
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AIID JOHNSTON CONSULTING ENGINEERS, DATED JUNE 17, 1974, 

BATTERY PARK CITY ESPLANADE 
PILE REMEDIATION PROGRAM 

APPLICANT: HUGH L. CAREY 
BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY 
200 LIBERTY ST., 24TH FLOOR 
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10281 

AGENT: M.G, McLAREN, P.C. 
100 SNAKE HILL ROAD 
WEST NYACK, N.Y. 10994 

OVERALL SITE PLAN 

IN: MANHATTAN, NY 
AT: BATTERY PARK CITY 
COUNTY OF: NEW YORK 
STATE: NY 

SHT 1- OF t r 03/30/2018 
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PURPOSE: ESPLANADE REPAIRS 

DATUM: MHD 
DJACENT OWNERS: 

SEE ATTACHED LIST. 
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o 20• x 20"  SQUARE PRESTRESSEO CONCRETE PILE 

20"  x 2 0 '  SQUARE PRESTRESSED CONCRETE BATTER PILE 

BATTERY PARK CITY ESPLANADE 
PILE REMEDIATION PROGRAM 

APPLICANT: HUGH L. CAREY 
BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY 
200 LIBERTY ST., 24TH FLOOR 
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10281 

AGENT: M.G. McLAREN, P.C, 
100 SNAKE HILL ROAD 
WEST NYACK, N.Y. 10994 

2018 PHASE 6 
SHEET 1 OF 4 

IN: MANHATTAN, NY 
AT: BATTERY PARK CITY 
COUNTY OF: NEW YORK 
STATE: NY 

SHT 3 OF Jr'  03/30/2018
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PURPOSE: ESPLANADE REPAIRS 

DATUM: MHD 
.DJACENT OWNERS: 

SEE ATTACHED LIST. 

31 35 
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PHASE 6 - SHEET 2 OF 4 
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1"=60' 
NOlE: 

60' 

LO. W. = LIMIT OF WORK 

120' 

LEGEND: 
a 20' x 20' SQUARE PRESTRESSEO CONCRETE PILE 

6 20' x 20' SQUARE PRESTRESSEO CONCRETE BATTER PILE 

BATTERY PARI( CITY ESPLANADE 
PILE REMEDIATION PROGRAM 

APPLICANT: HUGH L. CAREY 
BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY 
200 LIBERTY ST,, 24TH FLOOR 
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10281 

AGENT: M.G, McLAREN, P.C, 
100 SNAKE HILL ROAD 
WEST NYACK, N.Y. 10994 

2018 PHASE 6 
SHEET 2 OF 4 

IN: MANHATTAN, NY 
AT: BATTERY PARK CITY 
COUNTY OF: NEW YORK 
STATE: NY 

SHT OF / J r  03/30/2018 
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PURPOSE: ESPLANADE REPAIRS 

DATUM: MHD 

\ • .. DJACENT OWNERS: 
:)EE ATTACHED LIST, 

PHASE 6 .. SHEET 3 OF 4 
0 60' 120' 

NOTE: 
LO.I'/. = UMIT OF WORK 

LEGEND: 
o 20" x 20• SQUARE PRESTRESSED CONCRETE PILE 

& 20' x 20' SQUARE PRESlRESSED CONCRETE BA TIER PILE 

BATTERY PARK CITY ESPLANADE 
PILE REMEDIATION PROGRAM 

APPLICANT: HUGH L. CAREY 
BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY 
200 LIBERTY ST., 24TH FLOOR 
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10281 

AGENT: M.G, McLAREN, P.C. 
100 SNAKE HILL ROAD 
WEST NYACK, N.Y. 10994 

2018 PHASE 6 
SHEET 3 OF 4 

IN: MANHATTAN, NY 
AT: BATTERY PARK CITY 
COUNTY OF: NEW YORK 
STATE: NY 

SHT & ° o F  Jt f"  03/30/2018
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PURPOSE: ESPLANADE REPAIRS 

DATUM: MHD 
DJACENT OWNERS: 

.:iEE ATTACHED LIST. 

I 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - \

PHASE 6 - SHEET 4 OF 4 
0 

1"=60' 
NOTE: 

60' 

L.O.W. = LIMIT Of \\'ORK 

120' 

LEGEND: 
o 20' x 20 '  SQUARE PRESffiESSEO CONCRETE PILE 

20• x 20 '  SQUARE PRESffiESSEO CONCRETE BA TIER PILE 

BATTERY PARK CITY ESPLANADE 
PILE REMEDIATION PROGRAM 

APPLICANT: HUGH L. CAREY 
BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY 
200 LIBERTY ST., 24TH FLOOR 
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10281 

AGENT: M.G. McLAREN, P,C. 
100 SNAKE HILL ROAD 
WEST NYACK, N.Y. 10994 

2018 PHASE 6 
SHEET 4 OF 4 

IN: MANHATTAN, NY 
AT: BATTERY PARK CITY 
COUNTY OF: NEW YORK 
STATE: NY 

SHT OF f . 9 '  03/30/2018 

JUL 1 8 2018 
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PURPOSE: ESPLANADE REPAIRS 
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PHASE 7 - SHEET 1 OF 2 
0 

1"=60' 
NOTE: 

60' 

LO. VI. = LIMIT OF \\'ORK 

120' 

LEGEND: 

(-0 61 

11 I t  11 
I I  I I I I 
I I  11  I 

II II 11 
'ti 16' 't:1 

:11 I 1 111 • 
I I II 11 
I !  I !  \ 1  
11 11 I i  

I 
11 
II 
II 
1! : , !  

II 

a 20" x 20" SQUARE PRESTRESSED CONCRETE PILE 

� 20" x 20" SQUARE PRESTRESSED CONCRETE BA TIER PILE· 

BATTERY PARI< CITY ESPLANADE 
PILE REMEDIATION PROGRAM 

APPLICANT: HUGH L. CAREY 
BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY 
200 LIBERTY ST., 24TH FLOOR 
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10281 

AGENT: M.G, McLAREN, P.C. 
100 SNAKE HILL ROAD 
WEST NYACK, N.Y. 10994 

2019 PHASE 7 
SHEET 1 OF 2 

IN: MANHATTAN, NY 
AT: BATTERY PARK CITY 
COUNTY OF: NEW YORK 
STATE: NY 

SHT 1 OF I  03/30/2018  

JUL 1 8 2018 









































NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 
Facility DEC lD 2-6200-00782 

Item B: Permittee's Contractors to Comply with Permit 
The permittee is responsible for informing its independent contractors, employees, agents and assigns of 
their responsibility to comply with this permit, including all special conditions while acting as the 
permittee's agent with respect to the permitted activities, and such persons shall be subject to the same 
sanctions for violations of  the Environmental Conservation Law as those prescribed for the permittee. 

Item C: Permittee Responsible for Obtaining Other Required Permits 
The permittee is responsible for obtaining any other permits, approvals, lands, easements and rights-of-
way that may be required to carry out the activities that are authorized by this permit. 

Item D: No Right to Trespass or Interfere with Riparian Rights 
This permit does not convey to the permittee any right to trespass upon the lands or interfere with the 
riparian rights of  others in order to perform the permitted work nor does it authorize the impairment of  
any rights, title, or interest in real or personal property held or vested in a person not a party to the 
permit. 
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